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Lucent Technologies DC
Bell Labs Innovations

Microelectronics
Lucent Technologies Inc,
777 N. Blue Parkway
Lee's Summit. MO 64086

|
'

| September 6,1996

Cynthia D. Pederson, Director /
Division of Nuclear Materials Safety
U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Region til
801 Warrenville Road
Lisle, Illinois 60532-4351

| Subject: Response to Apparent Violations in Inspection Report
No. 030-05097/96001(DNMS)

Dear Ms. Pederson:

This is in response to your letter dated July 30,1996, concerning the two
apparent violations that were identified as a result of the inspection conducted
by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) on May 21,1996. r

|

APPARENT VIOLATION
10 CFR 30.9(a) requires, in part, that information provided to the Commission by

| a licensee be complete and accurate in all material respects. However, licensee
did not provide to the Commission information that was complete and accurate in
all material respects. The letter stated that the company had decommissioned
the facility. Attached to the letter was a NRC form 314 (Certificate of Disposition)
signed by the RSO, December 20,1993. This information was material because
based on this information on February 4,1994, the NRC terminated the license
with amendment No. 25.

! RESPONSE
|

Contaminated Machine Parts in Two 55 Gallon Drums t
; The former Radiation Safety Officer has advised us that based on the advice of g

C. Gene Bell, RadTrace Co., the outside consultant that was engaged to assist
and oversee the decommissioning activities, he believed that any residual Kr-85

) contamination would " gas off" quickly and the machine parts could then be q
<O
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disposed of as ordinary scrap. In a November 1995 telephone conversation with
C. Gene Bell of RadTrace Co., Mr. Bell expressed surprise that the Krypton-85 i

had not " gassed off". The belief that the Kr-85 would " gas off" quickly now*

j appears to have been in error. Lucent Technologies would not intentionally
1 mislead or provide erroneous information to the NRC. '

j

Contaminated Storaae Canisters
" The storage canisters, in the Tracer-Flo machines, had been declared at
] background levels by the outside consultant at the time of decommissioning in i

j December,1993. Item 4 in the consultant's service report (Attachment 1) states
" Final radiation survey of both units, room and exhaust stack showed all i

: surfaces background." There was no reason to suspect residual radioactivity at
that time for these components. In addition, the final survey report of the+

Radiation Safety Officer for the Tracer-Flo process area ( Attachment 2) showed
measurements at background. ;

4 j

Corrective Action i

: Contaminated Machine Parts in Two 55 Gallon Drums
We believe the contaminated components were handled properly and.

responsibly while they were still in our facility. They were stored in an !
exhausted and restricted area. When we became aware that the components
still contained residual radioactivity, prompt action was taken to dispose of them i

properly. The contaminated machine parts were shipped to Chem-Nuclear's
,

Barnwell Waste Management Facility on December 7,1995. (Attachment 3) ;
*

i |
I All manufacturing activities involving the use radioactive materials were ceased
~

prior to December,1993. All Lucent Technologies manufacturing activities were
j terminated prior to the end of 1995 at this facility. The remaining work force,

which is currently providing contract manufacturing support to Berg Electronics, !i

! is currently scheduled to go off roll by the middle of 1997 or sooner. The '

'

building and surrounding land are being offered for sale and a potential buyer !t

I
'

has been identified. Therefore, we are not suggesting any changes to our
management practices at this site. ]

Contaminated Storaae Canisters
The storage canisters, which were certified to be at background by RadTrace !
Co. during the decommissioning activities in 1993 (Attachment 1), were left in I

the secured Tracer-Flo room. When it was discovered that there may be some
residual radioactivity in one of the canisters, an effort was made to include the
canister in the shipment to Barnwell, in December 1995. Because of the lead
shielding, Chem-Nuclear was unable to accept the canister for burial.

l
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Alternative disposal options were investigated in January,1996. The canister
| was cut open to determine the possibility of decontamination locally. Only then

was the level of contamination known. Survey readings inside the canister were"

;

in the 10-15 mRlhr. range. ;

On the advice of our Corporate Radiation Safety Officer, Scientific Ecology
: Group, Inc. (SEG) was contacted in late January,1996, regarding proper

disposal of the storage canister. SEG indicated that they had the capability to,

j handle the radioactively contaminated lead shielded canister. Negotiations were
begun between our purchasing organization and SEG, to define an agreement4

i to handle our radioactive waste material. That agreement was finalized in June,
1996 and a purchase order was released on June 19,1996 to SEG to dispose of
the radioactive Tracer-Flo storage canisters and one of the activation chambers2

which was found to be contaminated during the NRC inspection visit on May 21,-

: 1996.
i
| After several unsuccessful attempts to schedule a pickup, the contaminated

storage canisters and activation chamber were picked up by SEG on August 29,-

'

1996.
,

: ;
,

i APPARENT VIOLATION |

| 10 CFR 30.3 requires, in part, that except for persons exempted, no person shall .|
| possess or use byproduct material except as authorized by a specific general '

| license pursuant to Title 10, Chapter 1, Code of Federal Regulations. However, 1
i since the license was terminated on February 4,1994, and the formerlicensee _\

i did not dispose of the radioactive waste, the failure to dispose of the materialis |
an apparent violation of 10 CFR 30.3. 1

i

i RESPONSE

) The completion of the decommissioning of the Tracer-Flo facility in 1993, the
( termination of all activities utilizing licensed radioactive materials, and the belief
i of the Radiation Safety Officer, based on the advice of the outside consultant,
j that the Kr-85 contamination would " gas off" quickly, prornpted him to believe

that we no longer had any activity that would require a license.

Corrective action

in conjunction with the phase-out of manufacturing activities at this location, the
purchasing rnanager at this location, contacted an equipment broker in the fall of
1995 to pursue the possible sale of the " decommissioned Tracer-Flo equipment". |

The equipment broker was not interested in purchasing the equipment, but j
|

3
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j offered to decommission the facility for a fee. The current Environmental &
Safety Coordinator understood that this decommissioning had already been

'

performed in 1993, based on the records regarding the decommissioning

| activity. As noted above, RadTrace Co. had been engaged to assist and
oversee the decommissioning activities.

Our Corporate Radiation Safety Officer was contacted and asked if any further,

] action was necessary prior to the disposal of the Tracer-Flo equipment. He

|_ suggested that a final radiation survey to confirm that everything was at
j background would be appropriate. During this survey, in November 1995, one of

the storage canisters was found to have a reading slightly above background.:

; At this time, it was also observed that the two 55 gallon drums of parts from the
! decommissioning activity were still on site. Survey readings of the top surface of

the open drums showed them to be above background. At that time, it was not
known that there were additional radioactive contaminated items.

7

i
j After consulting with our Corporate Radiation Safety Officer, Chem-Nuclear
: Systems, Inc. was contracted to dispose of the radioactive waste material that |

"

; had been identified. The two 55 gallon drums of Tracer-Flo machine parts were
'

picked up by Chem-Nuclear on December 7,1995 for transport to Barnwell for
burial. The storage canister was not included because of the lead content. j

Survey readings of the storage canister at the inlet / outlet port suggested a low l
level of contamination. It was decided to cut this open to determine the
possibility of decontamination locally. The canister was cut into two sections in
January,1996. Only then was the level of contamination known. Survey ;

readings inside the canister were in the 10-15 mR/hr. range. As noted above, 1,

the company began to pursue disposal possibilities.

Also as noted above, Scientific Ecology Group, Inc. (SEG) was contacted in late 1

IJanuary,1996, regarding proper disposal of the storage canister. SEG indicated
that they had the capability to handle radioactively contaminated lead shielded
canister. Negotiations were begun between our purchasing organization and
SEG, to define an agreement to handle our radioactive waste material. Thai
agreement was finalized in June,1996 and a purchase order was released on
June 19,1996 to SEG to dispose of the radioactive Tracer-Flo storage canisters
and one of the activation chambers determined to be contaminated during the
NRC inspection visit on May 21,1996.

SEG completed the packaging and shipment of the radioactive materials on
August 29,1996. A copy of the manifest is attached under Attachment 4.

All Lucent Technologies manufacturing activities were terminated prior to the
end of 1995 at this facility. The reraaining work force, which is currently
providing contract manufacturing support to Berg Electronics, is currently

4
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scheduled to go off roll by the middle of 1997 or sooner. The building and
surrounding land are being offered for sale and a potential buyer has been
identified. Therefore, we are not suggesting any changes to our management
practices at this site.

To the best of our knowledge, this facility is now in full compliance with all NRC
regulations and no remaining issues exist at this facility related to licensed
radioactive material.

I affirm that this response was prepared under my direction and supervision and
all information contained herein is accurate and complete, to the best of my
knowledge.

Please let me know if you have any further questions.

~

+

-, .-
/ / J. M. eeman
C'' Operations Director

I

!
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'RADlRACE CO.
'

3821 SOUTH TEAKWOOD STREET (714)731 7055
SANTA ANA, CALIFORNI A 92707

SERVICE REPORT
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Attachment 2.
,
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MEM;NOCL5AR SYSTEMS, INC. Attachment 3
O. Sea 126 | Bar2wc5 Sonim CaroEna 19412 | (803)139-l781

Control Number
TRAIGHT BILL OF LADCNG-SHORT FORM-ORIGINAIcNOT NEGOTIABLE. D# AC#
ICEIVED, subject to the classifications and tariffs in effect on the date of the issue of this Bill

(,_pq M A.Q
(Lading

Neth L. 'ili"-Ct' 4 Ddo . Q
he property descr'Ad below, m apparent good onter, except as noted (sonuna and condinon of consents o(packales unknown 1 Marted, consigned, and desaned

eM below, wtuch se44 carner (the word carner beag under food throu6 out the canaw:t as meanm6 any person or corporance a posuasma of the gg y Tractor No.h
>s

reparty mader she contact ) agrees so carry to es ususi placs of dehwry at said desansoon, it on as rouns, o<harmse to dehwr to anomer usr on me route to

ud desananon it is munaally agreed, as to each carnar of aA or any of sand property owr d or any pornon o(said routs to destmason And as to each party at
9,4A Trader No.

ny eme amrested s sa or any of said property, that ewry service to be performed hersander shad be sub ect to ad the terms and condinons of the umform$

ht bG o(ladm8 set forth (!)in oflicial, Soumern, Westers and Chras Fredd Cassi6 canons m edect on es date hereof, d em a a rad or a rad-wateruneenesma6

rupawat Or (2) m the appecable motor carner ci- A~aan or tanfrif eis is a motor carner shspment LEGAL

lhapper hersby certines eat be is famshar wuh au the terms and ecoditions of the east WL ofladmg, metudes those on she bed thereof, set forth a the classiAcanon

er tartif which gewrns me transportacon ofihm shipment, and the said terms and conditions are hereby e6 reed to by the shipper and accepted for hanseif and

(MAIL OR STREET ADORESS OF CON 3IGNEE FOR PLTfCSE3 OF NOTIFICATION ONI.Y.)us assagna. LEGAL
DATE: 07-Dec-95

FROM: AT&T (Kansas City Works) WlamLee's Summit, MO. 64063u
CONStGNED TO: Chem-Nuclear Systems, Inc. Barnwell Waste Management Facility

DESTINATION: Osborn Road. Sne: ling, STATE: South Carolina. 29812. LEGAL

******

EMERGENCY CONTACT: BARNWELL SECURITY (803) 259-6069'"

WEIGHT_

KIND OF P/.CKAGE, DESCRIPTION OF ARTICLES, LINER NUMBERS,No.

Pkgs. HM SPECIAL MARKS & EXCEPTIONS
(s,,4,eer a c-eenoid

426
2 X

' RadioactNe Material, n.O.s.,7, UN2982.

(2) 55-gal metal drums Of Electron Tubes. |

|
RADIONUCLIDES:Ran6

TOTAL ACT& TTY:1.0 trullicurie. -M- dmE. BE (Q ov:( 5 3 4-
/' ''

PHYSICAL FORM; Solid

CHEMICAL FORM: Oxide
|CONTAINER TYPE: Metal drurn

CONTAINER SPEC.:US D.O.T. 7A. Type A LABELING (spec): Radioactive Yellow-II |

TRANSPORT INDEX: 0.7 PLACAROtNG; None Required |

'Ihis vehicle is consigned " Exclusive Use" no interrnediate loading or unloading is allowed unless autherned by |

| the consimor. or consimee. CNSI Secunty Seal NO.:0775.0780 l

DAPORTAVT. This u to certdy that the above named matenal.s are property
Recerved the property desenbed above in good condscoa,

classi(6ed, desenbed, pacx28ed, enarked and labeled and are m proper condition
except as otherwise noted

for traraportat. ion accordm8 to the appiicaole regulauons of the Department of
Jri-State Mmer Transit, Inc.carner

Tranwontoon.
onver TAAmfe WBFM' _

sisnature G2yi^.,e 9x S u
07-Dec-95 @

~

'

coroperiy CNSI oad 07-Dec-95 once and tirne

l

ED ttLI.D DATE TIME DATE TIME SHIFFER15!CNATURE

g 46,
TO 07-Cec-95 A.M. COMPLETED 07-Oec-95 A.M

\I N P.Mi
aJUuYE 1204 P.M 14ADtNC '] 5 HIPPER'3 3|CNATirRE
AjutMD DATE UME DATE nME

AMf Q g QAt 07 Oec-95 A.M LEFT 07-Oec 95

swirrER Aco r.ui swirrrR \MO P.Mi
I

SHIPPER IMPORTANT NOTE: Your signature certtries tha the above dates and tirnes are correct for record keepmg and billing purposes,

D,0.T. SHIPPING PAPERS (1) Of (5)
row m
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| rm.s.sysis as ac' nessuomuwet GA 1544Q -TemT-H o.:PI.
,

BILL OF LADQ4G COhTINUA110N PAGE
PACE;,,1_OF_1_ SHIPMENT MjMBEL 12953338
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FIcL M SPEQAL MARK.3 a sm.ar es 1094
2 X Radioactive Matenal. E.xceoteo Package. Limited Quanuty of Matenal. 7, UN2910.

(2)T% gal Metal Crurns containing Mecnanical Equipment (valves, tubing, compressors, etc.)
Radionuctides: Kr 85
Total Actrvy 1.24 millicunes
Physical Form: Soud.

Chemecal Form: Oxmes
Container Type: Metal Drum
Container Specification: Strong-Tignt Container
! Marking (non-spec); Radioacove
Placarding: None Required CNSt Secunty Seal No.:0775. 0780
Thrs wwe a consegned "Exetusew use* no intermedeste inading, or unsoa+ng is awed uneess sumaand by me consynor, or cons gnee
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BARNWELL WASTT. MANAGEMENT FACILITY ($) DOT SHIPPING PAPERS PAGE (4) OF (5) , ,, ,

CARRIER. _ iSMT ADORESS;_ F 7m st Jnalen MO
AT&T /"(1) GENERATOR NAME; Operated by CHE M-NUCLEAR SYSTE MS.INC.

FActLITY. Let LSa"n* F acilov PO Bos 726, Barmvet. South Carolma 29812 TELEPHONEq f8001 B454768 SHIPPING DATE LDEC95

ADORESS. _ 777 N he Parkwas y j

CITYfSTATE/ ZIP-
Lggs summe MO siQE3 7T[ A (803)2S9-1781

RAOlOACTNE SHIPMENT MANIFEST FORM SHIPMENT TY PE: Closed Van SHIPMENT SURFACE EXPOSURE S mRJhr
"

CONTACT; Stat OtttIhriE!1 Q(9161 M14186 CASK IDENTIFICATION NO,_,_ N/A t3SA f f
PHONE:

(3A) RADIOACTIVE WASTE TRANSPORTATION PERMIT NO.
2945 .4-95Y

EMERGENCY ftEPSONSE CONTACT: {'~i' | 7 , SHIPMENT NO LlNER TYPE N/A'" * *

CNSt Securdy , .

(4) USE THl3 NUMBER ON SHIPMENT I D. NUMBER PAGE 1
PHONE: (803)2594059 ALL CONTINUATION PAGES 129 5 5338 OF_2 _ LINER SERIAL NO M

'C
1

(2) BILL TO: ___ CNS! 1 DCF .
(38) NUMBE R OF GENERATORS TE_ C7 DEC 95DRIVER StGNATURE . '

CONTRACT /P O NO 5 filii = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = =
= = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = =

====================================================================D.
(6) TOTAL FOR PROPER SHtPPING NAME & HAZARD CLASS 1. Reportatde

EACH CLASS (PER 49 CFR 172101) NUMBE R Quanuty or (7) SHIPMENT TOTALS
Source

Fiesne Disposat Total
E sempt Volume No. of ACTIVITY (10CFR20 311) M atertalsh NO.OF WElGHT

(ft3) Packmor s Mdlicunes (Pounds)PACK. AGES (POUNDS)
Radioactrwe Matenat, exepted package - As

UN2910, ernpty packagma. 7 tsotooes Tnuum C-14 Tc-99 1-129
R adioactrwe Matenal, fbstee. n o s ; ? UN2918j

~ Radioactrwe Matenal. Iow specific actMty,
UN2912 30 0 4 2 24 NA NP NP NP NP

noa:T
2 426 R~=we Matenal, n o s; 7 UN2982 Fessde Eremp

Fissde (8) TOTAL SNM (9) (10)

2 1094 ameed quanley of matenat; 7 UN2910 Exempt tsotope Grams No Packages MINIMUM WASTE SOUDIFICATIONRadioactrwe Matenat, exceptea package -

Rahm Matenai, special form, n o s ; 7 UN2974 U-233 NP O PACKAGE % FILL 90 % AGENT None Used

U-735 NP O
Radioactrwe Matenat, exc.epted package -
insta.; e-:s or articles. F UN2910 PU NP O (11)

*

Total NP O NUMBER ANDTYPEOFCONTAINERS (4) 551af enetal drums
Other (Speedy) ~

(12) Mecharras Equipmers (i e ) vatwes tubing (13) PHYSICAL . (14) CHE MICAL (15) NAME AND % OF (16) WASTE FORM Ct. ASS

WASTE DESCRIPTION compressor.electrontubes FORM. Solid FORM. Oxwle CHELATING AGENT (S) None 10% ,X AU AS ,,85 _ CS

(19) " Cert 6fication is hereby made to the South Carohna Departmert of Health and Ermronmertal Control tnat this shipmert of kwaeves
radioactive waste has been prepared m accordance with a raisoactrwe waste .. . ; program which has been approved by the

17)(X)Yes () No THIS VEHfCLE IS CONSIGNED EXCLUSfvE USE. LOADING AND UNLOADING MUST BENuclear Regulatory Commession or an Agreemert State regulatory agency and has been inspected m accordance wah the requirements [

ACCOMPLtSHED BY CONSIGNOR OR CONSIGNEE OR hts DESIGNA1ED AGENT. of South Carohna Radioachwe Matenal Ucense No 097 as amended, and the Nuclear Regulatory Commission Ucense No. '
12-13536 41as amended, and the effectswe Barnwet See Disposal Catena uthin 48 hours pnor to shipment, and further cerbricahon

as appocante laws, rules and r=~la made IP 1 the inspechon rewaved no tems of non.compprnee
(18) ,MPORTANT:"This is to cernfy that the above named matenats are property classified, desenbed, packaged, [

marited, and labeled, and are in proper conosson for transportation according to the appt caole regulations of
Qaft,,_.R GEG95 Signature 4.

'4 FORM NO. CNS-201
'

tne Depanment of Transportaeori? Title and Organization F m % a M (.ur-4;x.\ A n T~ (7-93)

h 6 ax'-C Q % i Barron Bradtej_ Telephone No $Q ? =rt -Mi *bL
Signature
Company Chem Nuclear Sfstems \ Qata OEDECi

\

f CNSI USE ONLY
a."

/ This matenal frieets s3 hcense requeemerus
/ This matenas was disposed of en accordance wth bcense Crane Foreft K

Srueided Personnet'_, __,

___._ Discreparry -

Barrier
Overpad SIN _ _

j 12-/4 4 OverPaa ud Su
-

.

D.,e
. Oiher
i

bd Tbe _| Authenred Sagnature s
d

- ._

9

h

a

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ . _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ ___ _ _ _ _ _ . . _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _
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Attachment 4
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i
i P.O. Box 2530

SPECIAllZED GENERATOR SERVICES RADIOACTIVE MATERIAL SHIPMENT MANIFEST
I

| 1560 Bear Creek Road

O u r {S{ 01L to se Ine sarest. nignest verrorming. innovative -aste management company in en,1 **
or d. accomprisned av comnining team-oru. ceptiona> customer service. ane Oau RIege, TN 31aa0

t |E APP cation or advanced tecnnologies. and a commit nent to excellence.li
5 SCIENTIFIC ECOLOGY GROUP.1NC.

'

| "

t 'G.ne.a.o Name /ucard
TT,= k '

7 p roi i ror

of ,(*, ,1f_ PROPER SHIPPING NAME & HAZARDOUS CLASS cUs NE,'" *"

d G.n.,aic, No (_1_L]-l_LJ- -! I fd Page , p, ,'
Pack =9 *(Pa=ad$1

I wes,77 7 A _ Gdric Le. GENERATOR Radioactive material, excepted package-articles manufactured11
MANIFEST NO- from natural or depleted Uranium or natural Thorium 7 UN2910'

c.,y k eh k w M Siae.DQ zip lfggg Radioactive material, excepted package-empty packaging 7 UN2910

Radioactive material, excepted package-instruments or articles 7 UN2910Contact Phonee

- O bM.- Radioactive material, excepted package-limited quantity of materia! 7 UN2910TN Shipper tc 3 Wb f*'

us., e .n 2sn r_ ?_4M/. - s/ tmergency </ 21,ver- sm. 7 UN2918]Contact & Phone Radioactive material. fisSite. n o.S.
g #/6% Radioactrve material. Iow Specific activity LSA. n.o.S. ft%E.) 7 UN2912!

,

UN2982)7Radioactive material. n.o.S.
ipment No.Q[,123 7 UNEL4|Rad &achve materiaksoeciat form. nn.S.e

I
* A.u..ss % ,

,$ pped
. c.ty State Ftiecnase o.ow a <

m

"
! cm r .i .i C t.ia.:

n.dl.- .Cl &
Sp.cial

... e...u acue. .ci an .n, r*,mm w.u. wui. neiew s .. cm c c i. s ,u. iri s r,un. tm

.. n u. run onum tun r o.wi.u.. rm. me.nw me.nw w. w vs . Y,r. 5.camn ime- ci. unw .

ci. q,r. i, .aii i, si ic. ri) c nmn .nsin u ..,

, c ... sana. cf. cm.n.,,se . is

} | h khNSN U'23E .hD2_ AO'l S. q nwr4Le g p, M LG__LbsS. 0 # .0S I% 78 $$LE 10 &Y**~ ~ M
g n...cien -

! W R ,oc4 .Ooj Cet D cnT%r>efiggyoc vuNg .t8

j /filfdiMD ChnW N % &* Wk
* * * " " " -

'
-

nw.uno .
yg2a4 , o63 3o3 _gg;g4Lg7qg;ig

{ **.unn-

VA 224 .016 . D@ $vt MCud Titurn1*~ 11htYGT%' nw.us, .
,

! n. moi .

i / e 041, 4 PAGE TOTALS ><-# e13 3 ,

Shipper represents and warrants that dat forth in adioactive Waste shipment & Disposal Manifest is< ,
'

f true and correct in all respects.
SHieueur forALS'

fi$5 p$v TUTgi ce$ u.i. es 1 33_I c. ri

h 3 7= $ $ *SD h
'

'

Snipper Signature
THIS VEHICLE IS CONSIGNEO EXCLUStvE USE. LOAOING AND

,

v
This ,s to ce<tery that the above named matenais are p<operty UNLOAOING MUST BE ACCOMPLISHED BY CONSIGNOR OR

,
' Acrevery classified. cesconed. packageo. marised and fat esed. and CONSIGNEE On HIS DESIGNArEO AGENr y5

! acn iv ie.ts- Tou.. c 14 Ic 99- 112s an tsatop s
are in proper concetion for transponation according to the M )YES ( )NO

_ g ,, y, g" g
- s

' apphcable ,eguaations of the Department of Transponation
,

'

)
i
i .
$

i

4

s
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P.C. Box 2530
RADIOACIIVE MATERIAL SHIPMENT MANIFEST Oax RiagS,*rn"3783N

"* ' "~ ' ' '

E 65 Continuation She'et
(615) 481-0222

bs( trNTiflC ECOLOGY GROUI' INC.
:3EG Shipment No.:h b Page of

GENERATOR MANIFEST NO.
'
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